#### Yale University EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library

School of Medicine

January 2011

# Development Of A Nanoparticulate Drug Delivery Vehicle For Retinoic Acid

Noah Capurso Yale School of Medicine, noah.capurso@yale.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl

#### **Recommended** Citation

Capurso, Noah, "Development Of A Nanoparticulate Drug Delivery Vehicle For Retinoic Acid" (2011). Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library. 1541. http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl/1541

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Medicine at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.

# Development of a Nanoparticulate Drug Delivery Vehicle for Retinoic Acid



A Thesis Submitted to the Yale University School of Medicine in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Medicine

> by Noah Alexander Capurso 2011

### Abstract

Retinoic acid (RA) is a small molecule capable of shunting developing T cells away from the Th17 lineage and towards the Treg phenotype, making it a potentially useful therapeutic for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. However, therapy can be complicated by systemic toxicity and unpredictable bioavailability, making a targeted drug delivery vehicle for local therapy desirable. A promising approach is the use of nanoparticles, which have been demonstrated to increase potency and decrease toxicity of therapies in a variety of disease models including Th17 mediated diseases. We therefore constructed a nanoparticulate drug delivery platform from poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) capable of encapsulating and Here we report the fabrication, characterization, and in vitro releasing RA. bioactivity of this platform. We demonstrate that RA containing PLGA nanoparticles suppress IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$  production and ROR- $\gamma$ (t) expression in T cells polarized towards the Th17 phenotype *in vitro* with similar potency to that of free drug. Furthermore, we show that these particles enhance TGF- $\beta$  dependent Foxp3 expression and IL-10 production of T cells in vitro with similar potency to free RA. Finally, we demonstrate that T cells polarized towards the Th17 phenotype in the presence of free RA and nanoparticulate RA have similarly suppressed ability to induce IL-6 production by fibroblasts. Our findings demonstrate the feasibility of RA delivery via biodegradable nanoparticles and represent an exciting technology for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisors Drs. Tarek Fahmy and Clara Abraham for providing me with the opportunity to pursue this research project. I approached them with little more than an idea and it was only through their advice and guidance that the work presented here became possible.

This work would also not have been possible were it not for the financial, administrative, and moral support of the Office of Student Research. Dr. John Forrest has been a valuable source of advice. Donna Carranzo and Mae Geter always do an exceptional job of keeping everything running smoothly with a smile.

Dr. Ragy Ragheb, Dr. Stacey Demento, Jason Criscione, and particularly Michael Look are members of the Fahmy lab that deserve special mention. Michael's knowledge, lab skills, and willingness to teach made him an invaluable resource.

Personally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their support. My wife Allison was a constant source of encouragement (and technical help) when I needed it most. Finally, I would like to thank my parents for everything they have done for me over the years.

Financial support was provided through an NIH CTSA T32 grant awarded through the Yale School of Medicine.

# Contents

1 Introduction	1
1.1 Targeted Therapy	1
1.1.1 Therapeutic Targeting Strategies	1
1.1.2 Nanoparticles as Drug Delivery Vehicles	4
1.1.3 Nanoparticle Fabrication	8
1.2 Autoimmunity	12
1.2.1 Mechanisms of Autoimmunity	13
1.2.2 Autoimmune Regulation by Tregs	17
1.2.3 The Th17 Subset	20
1.2.4 Retinoic Acid	22
1.3 Statement of Hypothesis and Specific Aims	24
2 Materials and Methods	26
2.1 Relative Contributions	26

2.2.1 Particle Fabrication	 26

2.2.2 Particle Characterization	27
2.3 In Vitro Bioactivity	29
2.3.1 Cell Culture and T cell Stimulation	29
2.3.2- Flow Cytometry Analysis	30
2.3.3 Fibroblast/Th17 co-culture	31

#### 3 Results

3.1 Particle Characterization	32
3.2 In Vitro Bioactivity	34
3.2.1 RA Nanoparticles Inhibit Th17 Differentiation	34
3.2.2 RA Nanoparticles enhance the Treg Phenotype	35
3.2.3 RA Nanoparticles Inhibit IL-6 Production in Fibroblasts	37

#### 4 Discussion

39

32

#### References

44

# List of Figures

1 Schematic representation of drug loaded nanoparticle	5
2 Schematic representation of single emulsion nanoparticle fabrication	11
3 Autoimmunity is often the result of a combination of factors	15
4 Schematic of Treg actions	19
5 Role of retinoic acid in T cell differentiation	23
6 Molecular structure of retinoic acid	24
7 Nanoparticle Characterization	32
8 Drug Release Kinetics	33
9 Cytokine production of Th17 cells	34
10 FACS analysis of Th17 cells	35
11 IL-10 production by Treg cells	36
12 FACS analysis of Treg cells	37
13- IL-6 production by fibroblasts	26

# List of Abbreviations

- AICD- activation induced cell death
- AIRE- autoimmune regulator
- APECED- autoimmune polyendorinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy
- BCR- B cell receptor
- BSA- bovine serum albumin
- CD- cluster differentiation
- CIA- collagen induced arthritis
- D- diffusion doefficient
- DCM- dichloromethane
- DMEM- Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
- dsDNA- double stranded DNA
- EAE- experimental allergic encephalitis
- ELISA- enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- EPR- enhanced permeability and retention
- FBS- fetal bovine serum
- G-CSF- granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
- GM-CSF- granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- IBD- inflammatory bowel disease
- IFN-γ- interferon gamma
- IL- interleukin
- MFI- mean fluorescence intensity

MWCO- molecular weight cutoff

NP- nanoparticle

o/w- oil in water

PBS- phosphate buffered saline

PLGA- poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)

PVA- poly (vinyl alcohol)

RA- retinoic acid

SEM- scanning electron microscopy

SLE- systemic lupus erythematosis

TCR- T cell receptor

TGF- $\beta$ - transforming growth factor beta

Th-Thelper

TLR- toll-like receptor

TNF- $\alpha$ - tumor necrosis factor alpha

Treg- regulatory T cell

w/o/w- water in oil in water

# Chapter 1

### Introduction

### 1.1- Targeted Therapy

The concept of targeted therapy is an old one. It was first formally proposed in 1906 by the eminent physician Paul Ehrlich in which he imagined a drug that selectively affected a specific diseased structure or pathological process to the exclusion of all else<sup>1</sup>. As an early developer of chemotherapy for cancer treatment, the appeal of a "magic-bullet" that could cure disease without causing side effects must have been immense. The concept of targeted therapy has broadened since Ehrlich's time to include therapies not only for cancer but any pharmacologic treatment that has side effects.

### 1.1.1- Therapeutic Targeting Strategies

Vast improvements have been made in the development of targeted therapeutics since the concept was first proposed over 100 years ago. Two strategies have been identified to achieve targeted drug delivery- pharmacologically targeted therapies and local drug delivery<sup>2,3</sup>. Pharmacological targeting refers to the use of a therapeutic that selectively affects a specific pathological process implicated in the disease being treated with the hope that normal biological processes remain unaffected. Local drug delivery achieves targeting by applying or delivering a drug to the physical location of disease, thereby leaving normal structures free of potential side effects.

Modern medicine is rife with examples of pharmacologically targeted therapies. Many antibiotics and chemotherapy agents selectively affect processes or molecules exclusive to invasive microorganisms or tumor cells respectively. A few examples include penicillin class antibiotics that interfere with bacterial cell wall synthesis, tyrosine kinase inhibitors that disrupt replication of tumor cells, and monoclonal antibodies directed against specific cell types such as the cell surface receptor HER2/neu expressed in breast cancer, CD-20 in B cell lyphomas, and the hematopoetic marker CD33 for treatment of AML<sup>4</sup>. Pharmacologically targeted therapies have recently revolutionized the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases as well. Examples include monoclonal antibodies against molecules implicated in the pathogenesis of these diseases such as anti-TNF therapy for rheumatoid arthritis<sup>5</sup> and inflammatory bowel disease<sup>6</sup> as well as the monoclonal antibody natalizumab against alpha-4 integrin for the treatment of multiple sclerosis<sup>7</sup> and Crohn's disease<sup>8</sup>. Local drug delivery, although less frequently employed, is also used to increase the specificity of pharmacological treatments. Due to ease of application, local drug delivery is most frequently used for treatment of skin diseases. The respiratory tract is another convenient site for local drug delivery. Common examples include nasal delivery of anti-inflammatory agents and vaccines as well as inhaled drugs for the treatment of pulmonary diseases such as asthma.

Despite the success of using local drug delivery to achieve targeting, it has been difficult to implement in cases where the disease does not involve easily accessible areas of the body such as the skin or respiratory tract. Several orally administered therapies use the fact that they are not absorbed across the gut epithelium to their advantage and are used to treat gastrointestinal illnesses. Examples of this strategy include anti-inflammatory formulations for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease<sup>9</sup> and antibiotics such as rifaxamin, nyastatin, and vancomycin against pathological organisms in the gastrointestinal tract<sup>10,11</sup>.

It has proven difficult to access other sites of the body for local drug delivery, however. Methods for achieving local drug delivery to other sites are invasive and undertaken only during the treatment of serious illness when the toxicity of treatment makes it absolutely necessary to minimize side effects. For example, neurosyphilis is often treated with intrathecally-administered penicillin. Prostate cancer can be treated by surgically implanting radioactive seeds within the tumor. In 2003, the FDA approved a therapy that incorporated the chemotherapeutic carmustine into a biodegradable wafer that is surgically implanted into the brain for treatment of malignant gliomas<sup>12</sup>. This final example of local drug delivery has the further advantage of utilizing a drug delivery vehicle that gradually releases drug into the environment over time, called controlled release, resulting in steadier drug levels and increased therapeutic efficacy <sup>13-15</sup>.

### 1.1.2- Nanoparticles as Drug Delivery Vehicles

Nanoparticles refer to a class of engineered colloidal systems with physical dimensions measured on the nanometer scale, typically less than 1µm. There are five major classes of nanoparticles; particles with polymeric matrices, particles with inorganic matrices such as gold or silica, liposomal nanoparticles, viral nanoparticles, and particles composed of carbon networks such as nanotubes<sup>16,17</sup>. Each class of nanoparticle differs significantly with respect to physical characteristics, biological activities, applications, and fabrication methods. Although this thesis will focus exclusively on polymeric nanoparticles, many of the concepts described below are applicable to most or all of the nanoparticle classes<sup>16</sup>.

A nanoparticulate drug delivery system is created by fabricating particles that incorporate drug into the interior of the particle, a process called encapsulation or drug loading<sup>17</sup>. The matrix of the particle is chosen such that it degrades in a time dependent manner, often via hydrolytic cleavage with water molecules so that drug release occurs when particles are in an aqueous environment, releasing drug from its core and into the vicinity (see Figure 1)<sup>18</sup>.



Figure 1- Schematic representation of drug loaded nanoparticle. Encapsulated drug is released upon degradation of particle matrix, in this case via hydrolysis.

Nanoparticles have been under investigation for several decades and many properties that make them ideal for local drug delivery have been characterized. One advantage is the ability to fabricate particles of various sizes, affecting biodistribution<sup>19</sup>, bioavailability<sup>20</sup>, excretion<sup>21</sup>, and trafficking across biological barriers<sup>22,23</sup>. Another advantage is the ability to adjust the composition of particle matrices in order to alter the kinetics of drug release<sup>24,25</sup>. Particles can also be loaded with a variety of therapeutic and imaging agents simultaneously, allowing for a multimodal diagnostic and treatment approach<sup>26</sup>. Finally, particles can be fabricated from a wide variety of polymers, many of which are non-toxic and have already been approved for clinical use in humans by the FDA<sup>27,28</sup>.

Perhaps the most intriguing property of nanoparticles is their ability to deliver drug to specific sites or cell types within the body, thereby being useful in achieving local drug delivery<sup>29</sup>. As previously discussed, drug loaded nanoparticles release the encapusulated drug contained within their core and into the local environment in a time dependent manner. Particles can be fabricated to encapsulate a high density of drug within the core, making it possible to achieve high local concentrations of drug in the immediate vicinity of the particle as it is releasing its contents<sup>29</sup>. *In vivo*, drugloaded nanoparticles within close proximity to a site of disease would deliver a high local concentration and low systemic concentration of drug, maximizing treatment efficacy and minimizing systemic side effects.

Physical localization of particles to sites of disease or to specific cell types can be achieved through a variety of mechanisms. The simplest of these mechanisms is called "passive targeting", in which particles localize to sites of disease purely by virtue of their small size<sup>30</sup>. The best-characterized type of passive targeting is called the Enhanced Permeability and Retention Effect (EPR). EPR occurs in areas with leaky vasculature and impaired lymphatic drainage associated with solid tumors and sites of inflammation, allowing for the preferential accumulation of nanoparticles in these sites<sup>31,32</sup>.

Passive targeting also occurs to the intestinal mucosa for orally delivered particles. Nanoparticles have been shown to be retained within the gastrointestinal tract in a manner inversely proportional to their size<sup>33,34</sup>. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that nanoparticles localize specifically to areas of inflammation in animals models of colitis<sup>35,36</sup>. Authors have postulated that the mechanism of this selective retention is increased mucous production and greater number of phagocytic cells in areas of inflammation, specifically macrophages<sup>35,36</sup>. When loaded with therapy, orally delivered nanoparticles demonstrate increased therapeutic efficacy and decreased systemic side effects over free drug in the treatment of animal models of colitis<sup>37,38</sup>.

Localization of particles to organs or cell types that may not be conducive to passive targeting can be achieved via active targeting in which the particle surface is functionalized with targeting ligands<sup>39</sup>. Equipped with these targeting moieties, particles may act as "homing devices" to specific sites of disease<sup>29</sup>. Typically, targeting ligands are chosen that have a high binding affinity to surface receptors expressed by specific cell types such that the particle will preferentially bind to individual targeted cells to the exclusion of others<sup>39</sup>.

Various strategies exist for active targeting, the most common of which utilize lectin-glycoprotein, ligand-receptor, and antibody-antigen interactions. Lectin targeting (carbohydrates on particle surface targeted to cell lectins) and reverse lectin targeting (lectins on particle surface targeted to cell glycoproteins) represent some of the earliest strategies for active targeting of nanoparticles<sup>40</sup>. A high degree of cell specificity has been achieved by coating particles with artificially synthesized polysaccharides that are tailored to bind lectins expressed on certain types of cells<sup>40</sup>. Lectin-glycoprotein targeting strategies have been shown to enhance efficacy of nanoparticulate formulations of chemotherapy for colon and liver cancer<sup>41,42</sup>, antibotics for H. pylori eradication<sup>43</sup>, and have even been evaluated *in vitro* for colonic delivery of ondansetron for treatment of Irritable Bowel Syndrome<sup>44</sup>. In ligand-receptor targeting, particles are functionalized with ligands that bind to receptors overexpressed specifically by diseased tissue. The most studied example is folate functionalized particles targeted against folate-receptor overexpressing tumors<sup>45-47</sup>. Other examples of successful ligand-receptor particle targeting include the functionalization of antigen containing particles with TLR agonists such as LPS and flagellin. Such particles have been shown to enhance antigen delivery and enhance vaccination efficacy *in vivo*<sup>48,49</sup>. The final method of active targeting, antibody-antigen targeting, has been widely studied for applications to cancer. Nanoparticles can be made to bind to certain cells with high selectivity by decorating the particle surface with an antibody against a specific cell surface marker. Examples of successful application of this strategy include studies that target B cell lymphoma with particles conjugated to anti-CD19 and anti-CD20<sup>50</sup>, breast cancer cells with anti-HER2 functionalized particles<sup>51,52</sup>, and neuroblastoma cells with anti-GD2 functionalized particles<sup>53</sup>. Antigen-antibody targeting has also been employed to shape immune responses by functionalizing IL-2 containing nanoparticles with a stimulatory anti-CD3 antibody alongside peptide-loaded MHCII for stimulation of naïve T cells<sup>54</sup>.

### 1.1.3- Nanoparticle Fabrication

Nanoparticles have been manufactured for over two decades using a variety of techniques<sup>55</sup>. Considerations when choosing between fabrication techniques include the particle material, desired size, toxicity, ability to carry therapeutics, and ability to add targeting ligands to the surface of the particle. The most commonly

utilized methods for the fabrication of drug loaded particles include emulsion chemistry<sup>56</sup>, spray drying<sup>57</sup>, and nanoprecipitation<sup>58</sup>.

Emulsion techniques are especially conducive to drug encapsulation and allows for high degrees of control over particle size and encapsulation efficiency while remaining flexible enough to utilize a variety of particle materials and encapsulants<sup>59</sup>. An emulsion refers to a mixture of two immiscible liquids in which one liquid is dispersed as tiny droplets within the other. In this technique, particles are formed within these small droplets of dispersed solvent. Emulsion techniques take advantage of the fact that small droplets of predictable size are produced upon the addition of mechanical energy to a mixture of two immiscible liquids. Solid particles can be obtained from an emulsion when the particle matrix material has differential solubilities between the two emulsion components.

Typically, polymeric particles are produced by first dissolving the chosen polymer in a small volume of volatile organic solvent. This organic solvent is then slowly added to a larger volume of an aqueous solution of an amphiphilic stabilizer. Mechanical energy is added to the system through stirring or sonication which disperses the organic solvent containing the dissolved polymer matrix into tiny droplets, forming an oil in water emulsion (denoted o/w, in which the smaller volume solution, and hence that which is forming droplets, is written first). The viscosity of both the organic and aqueous phase as well as the magnitude of mechanical energy put into the system affect droplet size. As the droplets are produced, the amphiphilic stabilizer molecules associate with the surface of the particle and prevent reassociation of droplets. The solution is then incubated to allow for evaporation of the volatile solvent, and solid polymeric particles are left behind<sup>27</sup>.

Particles can be fabricated to incorporate an encapsulant within the interior of the particle<sup>27,60</sup>. Encapsulants with a similar solubility profile to that of the particle matrix can be incorporated simply through addition to the initial particle matrix solution. In the case of polymeric particles described above, hydrophobic encapsulants can be dissolved along with the polymer in the organic phase. The encapsulant will remain in the organic phase throughout particle fabrication along with the polymer and will become incorporated within the particle matrix itself. This is called a single emulsion (see Figure 2).



Figure 2- Schematic representation of single emulsion nanoparticle fabrication where  $\sqrt{}$  represents a polymer and  $\bullet$  represents a drug. The drug and polymer are dissolved in an organic solvent and added dropwise to a vortexing solution of aqueous stablizer to form an oil-in-water emulsion. Probe sonication produces nano-sized droplets of organic solvent containing dissolved drug and polymer. Evaporation of the organic solvent, washing, and lyophilization yields spherical drug loaded polymeric nanoparticles.

Encapsulants with a dissimilar solubility profile to that of the particle matrix can be incorporated using a double emulsion technique. This technique is called double emulsion because the steps outlined above are repeated twice, essentially forming an emulsion of an emulsion. In this technique, a solution of the encapsulant that is immiscible with that of the particle matrix is prepared first. This solution is added to the polymer matrix solution, mechanical energy is added, and an emulsion is produced. This emulsion is then added to a larger volume of solution containing a stabilizer as in the single emulsion technique. This is especially useful when producing polymeric particles that contain proteins. Proteins are particularly difficult to incorporate in polymeric particles because they are soluble only in aqueous solutions and easily denature when they contact organic solvents. Protein containing polymeric particles are fabricated by first adding an aqueous protein solution to a solution of polymer in volatile organic solvent and forming a water-inoil emulsion (w/o). This w/o emulsion is then added to a large volume of a stabilizer containing aqueous solution, mechanical energy is added, and a second emulsion is produced called a water-in-oil-in-water double emulsion (denoted w/o/w emulsion). As above, the mixture is incubated to allow for solvent evaporation and solid particles with aqueous protein containing pockets are produced.

### 1.2- Autoimmunity

In order to defend against a wide array of pathogens, the immune system has developed potent mechanisms to identify and destroy invaders. However, these mechanisms have the potential to damage the host and it therefore becomes critical that the immune system be able to discriminate between self and non-self<sup>61</sup>. The immune system's natural aversion to self destruction was originally termed *horror autotoxicus* in 1897<sup>62</sup>, literally meaning "the horror of self-toxicity". The concept of

*horror autotoxicus* is represented today in the multiple mechanisms employed by the immune system to discriminate self from pathogens, a process collectively called self-tolerance. Occasionally however, the mechanisms of tolerance can break down, in which case the immune system becomes activated against self-antigens, and autoimmune disease ensues<sup>61</sup>.

### 1.2.1- Mechanisms of Autoimmunity

The induction of self-tolerance begins early in the life of a lymphocyte. Immature lymphocytes develop in the thymus or bone marrow, a place in the body that should be pathogen free. Furthermore, the transcription factor AIRE is responsible for the expression of many peripheral proteins in the thymus<sup>63</sup>. Therefore, antigens recognized by such developing lymphocytes are likely to be self antigen. Such antigen recognition in immature lymphocytes leads to a negative signal and cell death, a mechanism known as central tolerance<sup>64</sup>. Another mechanism by which self-tolerance occurs is that lymphocytes constantly recognizing high and unchanging levels of antigen become tolerized. This occurs because levels of pathogenic antigens should increased sharply following invasion and the levels of antigen should fluctuate given the state of infection; antigens present at constant high levels are likely to be self-antigens. These self-reactive cells are deleted from the T cell repertoire via a process known as activation induced cell death (AICD), process that is mediated by Fas/Fas-ligand interactions<sup>65</sup>. A third mechanism of tolerance is called peripheral tolerance and this acts on mature lymphocytes that are circulating in the periphery. In order for a lymphocyte to become activated, it must receive co-stimulatory signals from an antigen-presenting cell. Uninfected peripheral tissues do not express co-stimulatory molecules, and therefore lymphocytes that have escaped central tolerance and recognize an antigen in the absence of a co-stimulatory signal are likely autoreactive. This lack of co-stimulation leads to the cell becoming anergic and eventually cell death<sup>66</sup>.

The process of maintaining self-tolerance can be thought of as a series of checkpoints that begin with the central deletion of self-reactive immature lymphocytes. None of these multiple checkpoints are 100% efficient, however the cumulative result is a system that can respond to pathogen while also maintaining tolerance to self. In approximately 5% of people however, these mechanisms are insufficient and the immune system becomes activated against self-antigens resulting in autoimmune disease<sup>67</sup>.

In rare cases, the autoimmunity is purely the result of genetic defects. For example, mutations in Fas or Fas-ligand that impair activation induced cell death results in Canale-Smith syndrome, an autoimmune syndrome in which patients suffer from massive accumulation of T cells in lymphoid organs and express multiple autoantibodies<sup>68</sup>. Another example of genetically determined autoimmunity is that AIRE defects can lead to APECED (autoimmune polyendorinopath-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy) in which patients have autoimmune destruction of multiple endocrine organs<sup>69</sup>.

Instances of pure genetic autoimmunity are rare however. It is now generally accepted that autoimmunity most commonly develops as a result of genetic predisposition and failure of intrinsic tolerance mechanisms in the setting of environmental triggers (see Figure 3)<sup>70</sup>. Examples of genetic predispositions to autoimmunity include HLA-B27 and the associated high risk of ankylosing spodylitis<sup>71</sup>, HLA-DR3 and HLA-DR4 that confer a 20 fold higher risk of developing Type 1 diabetes<sup>72</sup>, and NOD2 mutations that increase the risk of IBD<sup>73</sup>. Although these genetic variances increase risk, they are not fully penetrant and thus not everyone that has them will develop autoimmune disease. Another requirement is the presence of lymphocytes capable of recognizing a self-antigen. Since TCRs and BCRs are produced through random recombination, the development of autoreactive receptor specificity is largely due to chance<sup>70</sup>.



Figure 3- Autoimmunity is often the result of a combination of factors. Genetically predisposed individuals can develop autoimmune disease following an environmental trigger and the failure of the intrinsic mechanisms of tolerance. Adapted from <sup>70</sup>.

Finally, development of autoimmunity can follow one or more environmental triggers, most often an infection or some other inflammatory insult. Several hypotheses exist as to how such triggers induce autoimmunity, although most involve the activation of previously naïve lymphocytes with self-reactive potential in the new inflammatory milieu. The theory of molecular mimicry postulates some lymphocyte receptors that have high affinity for a pathogenic antigen may also be weakly cross-reactive with a self-antigen that resembles the pathogenic antigen<sup>74</sup>. During an infection, cells that express these receptors and become activated against a pathogen can then go on to recognize and orchestrate a response against the self-antigen. For example, it is believed that rheumatic heart disease following streptococcal infection results when activated T cells recognizing streptococcal antigen cross react with antigens on heart valves, leading to tissue destruction<sup>75</sup>. Another mechanism by which infection and inflammation can trigger autoimmunity is by making intracellular antigens available to lymphocytes in the extracellular environment. High rates of cell death during inflammation and large-scale tissue destruction such as myocardial infarction release intracellular antigens that can lead to autoimmunity<sup>76</sup>.

Once initiated, an autoimmune inflammatory reaction is often self-sustaining given the continuous presence of the antigen<sup>77</sup>. In fact, a phenomenon called epitope spreading can occur in which the immune system becomes reactive to more and more self-antigens over time. It is thought that the disease begins with an initial autoimmune reaction against a single inciting antigen but that the subsequent recruitment of other inflammatory cells and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines can lead to increased availability and higher rates of activation against additional self antigens<sup>78</sup>. An example of antigen spreading can be seen in the disease systemic lupus erythematosis (SLE)<sup>79</sup>. Patients with SLE can express antibodies to multiple self-antigens including anti-dsDNA, anti-Smith, anti-Ro, anti-La, and anti-nuclear antibodies. It has been observed that these antibodies develop as the disease progresses and increases in severity<sup>80,81</sup>.

The pattern of autoantibody production is often correlated with disease specificity and symptomology. In general, autoimmune disease can be classified in two categories: organ specific, and systemic. Organ specific autoimmune diseases affect a single organ or cell type and are usually associated with individual autoantibodies that are not widely expressed. For example, beta islet cell destruction in type 1 diabetes is associated with antibodies directed against components of beta cells<sup>82</sup>, Goodpasture's syndrome is associated with anti-glomerular basement membrane antibodies<sup>83</sup>, and myasthenia gravis is associated with anti-acetylcholine receptor antibodies<sup>84</sup>. In contrast, systemic autoimmune diseases are associated with ubiquitously expressed antigens such as DNA and RNA in the case of SLE<sup>85</sup>, IgG in rheumatoid arthritis, and ribonuclear proteins in Sjogrens Syndrome<sup>86</sup>.

#### 1.2.2- Autoimmune Regulation by Tregs

Autoreactive lymphocytes may avoid the negative selection process of tolerance but still not cause overt disease. One mechanism of control over these cells is through the action of a population of anti-inflammatory regulatory T cells (Tregs). These cells can be identified by their expression of the IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain CD25 on their surface and the transcription factor Foxp3<sup>87</sup>. Two populations of Tregs have been identified, natural Tregs (nTregs) and inducible Tregs (iTregs). nTregs are generated in the thymus where they begin expressing CD25 and Foxp $3^{88}$ . iTregs are generated in the periphery when naïve T cells are activated in the presence of the innate cytokine TGF- $\beta^{87}$ .

There are various mechanisms by which Tregs mediate their regulatory function. Although they express the conventional antigen specific  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  T cell receptor themselves, they are able to regulate the actions of T cells that bind a variety of antigens as long as these cells are interacting with the same antigen presenting cell (see Figure 4)<sup>89</sup>. Tregs suppress inflammatory functions through both contact dependent mechanisms involving membrane bound TGF- $\beta$  and the surface marker CTLA-4, as well as through the production of the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , both of which serve to directly suppress the proliferation of T cells by inhibiting the production of IL-2, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-5<sup>89</sup>. IL-10 also serves a regulatory function by inhibiting antigen presentation and IL-12 production by dendritic cells, thereby decreasing T cell activation and their subsequent differentiation into inflammatory Th1 cells<sup>89</sup>.



Figure 4- Schematic of Treg actions. Treg cells can exert a regulatory function on T cells that bind a variety of antigens. Tregs also inhibit the inflammatory actions of antigen presenting cells through the production of IL-10. Adapted from<sup>70</sup>

It is now widely accepted that these actions of Tregs are central to the regulation of inflammation and the suppression of autoimmune disease. Evidence of their importance comes from both experimental animal models as well as from human diseases. Transfer of Tregs has been shown to serve a protective role in the CD4CD45RB<sup>hi</sup> T cell transfer model of colitis<sup>90</sup>, the Experimental Allergic Encephalitis (EAE) model of multiple sclerosis<sup>91</sup>, and several animal models of autoimmune diabetes<sup>92</sup>. In addition, depletion of Tregs has been demonstrated to exacerbate existing disease and can even lead to fatal autoimmunity in animals<sup>93</sup>. Studies of human type 1 diabetes have shown that Tregs from these patients are ineffective at modulating the production of the cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  by inflammatory cells<sup>94</sup>. Defects in the regulatory activity of Tregs have also been found in patients with rheumatoid arthritis<sup>95</sup>, multiple sclerosis<sup>96</sup>, and autoimmune

polyglandular syndrome type 2<sup>97</sup>. Together, these findings all indicate that Tregs play an important role in preventing the immune system from becoming activated against self antigen and suggest interesting potential therapeutic targets and modalities for the treatment of autoimmune disease.

### 1.2.3- The Th17 Subset

The differentiation of naïve T cells into distinct subsets is determined by the cytokine milieu at the time of activation. These cytokines dictate the cell's subsequent actions since each subset has a unique effector phenotype. One of the subsets produced early in the course of an infection is the Th17 class of T cells<sup>98</sup>. Naïve T cells become Th17 cells when they are activated in the presence of TGF- $\beta$ and IL-6 and express the master Th17 transcription factor ROR- $\gamma t^{99}$ . The class gets its name because, once differentiated. Th17 cells produce high levels of IL-17 class cytokines, namely IL-17A (also simply called IL-17), IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E (also called IL-25), and IL-17F<sup>98</sup>. At rest, dendritic cells do not produce appreciable amounts of IL-6. However, in early infection, dendritic cells may increase IL-6 production and also produce TGF-β causing naïve T cells to differentiate towards the Th17 phenotype. This class of T cells is highly inflammatory and serves to coordinate the inflammatory response once differentiated. They travel to the site of infection where they produce IL-17 and IL-22, which induce the production of inflammatory cytokines by fibroblasts, epithelial cells, and keratinocytes. These cells in turn produce IL-6, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and

granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) which increase neutrophil and macrophage production in the marrow, and CXCL8 and CXCL2 which serve as neutrophil chemoattractants<sup>100,101</sup>.

While these actions of Th17 cells serve a physiological role in the defense against pathogens, these highly inflammatory cells have been implicated in the pathogenesis of a variety of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases<sup>102,103</sup>. The first evidence of the importance of Th17 cells in autoimmune pathogenesis came from the study of the animal model of multiple sclerosis, EAE. At the time, it was believed that EAE was largely a Th1 mediated disease, however it was found that disease was not ameliorated when the principle Th1 cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  was removed via anti-IFN- $\gamma$ antibodies or genetic knockout<sup>104-106</sup>. These findings suggested that another cell type was at least partially responsible for the disease phenotype and further investigation led to the subsequent identification of Th17 cells as playing a central role in EAE inflammation<sup>107,108</sup>. Additional support for the importance of Th17 in EAE pathogenesis came with the findings that animals treated with antibodies against IL-23, a cytokine that serves to expand previously differentiated Th17 cells<sup>102</sup>, and IL-17 deficient animals develop EAE with delayed onset and decreased severitv<sup>109,110</sup>.

Further investigations have implicated the role of Th17 cells in a variety of other autoimmune and inflammatory diseases in both animal models and human patients. Th17 cells have been found to be critical in the development and maintenance of many of these diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis <sup>111</sup>, multiple sclerosis <sup>112,113</sup>, inflammatory bowel disease<sup>102,114</sup>, SLE<sup>115</sup>, Sjögren's Syndrome<sup>116</sup>, scleroderma<sup>117</sup>, diabetes<sup>118</sup>, and even asthma<sup>119</sup>. These recent findings have generated considerable interest in exploiting Th17 cells and Th17 cell associated cytokines for therapy of these diseases.

### 1.2.4- Retinoic Acid

While other subsets of T cells undoubtedly play an important role in autoimmunity, an imbalance between Th17 cells and Tregs has been implicated in the pathogenesis of many autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. An excessive inflammatory reaction driven by Th17 cells without proper regulation by Tregs is a major driving factor in many of these conditions. Given that these cells types play such divergent roles both in the healthy immune system and in autoimmunity, it is interesting to note that development of each cell type is TGF- $\beta$  dependent.

The common requirement of TGF- $\beta$  signaling for the production of two distinct subsets of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells with such diverse roles prompted the investigation into additional regulators of Th17 and Treg cell differentiation. In particular, Mucida et al. demonstrated that retinoic acid (RA) modulates T cell differentiation between the Th17 and Treg lineages by promoting the development of Treg cells and away from Th17 differentiation (see Figure 5)<sup>120</sup>. Given the respective and largely antithetical roles of Th17 and Treg cells in autoimmune inflammation, it has been speculated that RA could be used as an effective pharmacologically targeted immunotherapeutic agent for autoimmune conditions<sup>121-123</sup>. Furthermore, RA expressing DCs from the lamina propria of the gut have been shown to promote Treg development and promote tolerance<sup>124</sup> while vitamin A<sup>125</sup> deficiency can predispose to inflammation. To that end, it has recently been demonstrated that RA is effective in decreasing disease burden in an animal model of colitis as well as decreasing IL-17 production in cells from humans with ulcerative colitis<sup>126,127</sup>.



Figure 5- Role of retinoic acid in T cell differentiation. TGF- $\beta$  is required for the development of both regulatory T cells (Treg) and inflammatory Th17 cells from naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Th0). Differentiation of Th0 cells into Th17 cells also requires IL-6. Retinoic acid regulates the differentiation of Th0 cells by promoting Treg and suppressing Th17 development.

RA, a derivative of vitamin A, is extensively used for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia<sup>128</sup> and dermatological conditions<sup>129</sup>. Studies involving RA use in these conditions have shown that high doses of RA can induce the potentially fatal reaction Retinoic Acid Syndrome<sup>130-132</sup> as well as complications such as myositis<sup>133</sup>, ascites<sup>134</sup>, and hypervitaminosis A, leading to hepatotoxicity, bone abnormalities, and birth defects<sup>131,135</sup>. The incidence and severity of these effects are directly related to serum concentration; however, it has been demonstrated that

oral bioavailability of RA is extremely variable and unpredictable between patients<sup>136</sup>.

### 1.3- Statement of Hypothesis and Specific Aims

RA is a promising pharmacologically targeted treatment for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. However, experience with the use of this drug in the clinic has revealed significant shortcomings and difficulties with RA therapy. Therefore, a vehicle for targeted localized delivery of RA to immune cells is highly desirable.



Figure 6- Molecular structure of retinoic acid.

As described in Section 1.1.2, polymeric biodegradable nanoparticles are effective drug delivery vehicles for achieving targeted local drug delivery. Examination of RA structure reveals its hydrophobic nature (see Figure 6) and RA does in fact dissolve readily in organic solvent and has low water solubility<sup>137</sup>, making it an ideal encapsulant for nanoparticles fabricated via the single emulsion o/w technique. The polymer poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) has a similar hydrophobicity profile and degrades via hydrolytic cleavage, making it an appropriate choice of particle matrix material for RA encapsulation. In addition, PLGA is non-toxic and is approved by the FDA for use in humans<sup>27</sup>.

We propose to evaluate the feasibility of nanoparticulate drug delivery of retinoic acid for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases by creating RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles. We hypothesize that RA delivered via PLGA nanoparticles will be as effective or more effective at modulating immune responses than soluble RA. We will evaluate this hypothesis according to the following specific aims:

- I- Fabricate RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles using a single emulsion o/w technique, and characterize particle dimensions and pharmacokinetics.
- II- Assess particle ability to modulate Th17 and Treg differentiation relative to soluble RA *in vitro*.

# Chapter 2

### Materials and Methods

### 2.1- Relative Contributions

The entirety of the experiments described below were performed by the author with the following exceptions; flow cytometry measurements of intracellular IL-17 and ROR- $\gamma$ (t) in Th17 cells were performed with Michael Look and Heba Nowyhed (Figures 10B & 10C), the SEM image of PLGA nanoparticles was obtained by Dr. Ragy Ragheb (Figure 7B).

### 2.2- Vehicle Fabrication and Characterization

### 2.2.1- Particle Fabrication

PLGA nanoparticles containing RA (Sigma-Aldrich, R2625) were fabricated using a single emulsion o/w technique. Briefly, 200mg PLGA 50/50 with an average molecular weight of 80kD (Durect Corporation B6010-2P) and 0.751mg of RA were dissolved in 2ml of the volatile organic solvent dichloromethane (DCM). This was added to 4mL of a 5% aqueous solution of the amphiphilic stabilizer poly(vinyl

alcohol) (PVA) (Sigma-Aldrich P1836) and sonicated three times for 10 seconds at 38% amplitude (TEKMAR VCW 400W) on ice forming the o/w emulsion. The mixture was incubated for 1 hour in 100ml 0.2% aqueous PVA and stirred to allow for evaporation of the DCM and hardening of the nanoparticles. Particles were collected via centrifugation at 12000 rpm at 4°C and washed three times with de-ionized water to remove excess PVA. Particles were then lyophilized and stored at - 20°C in an opaque container to protect RA from ambient light until use.

#### 2.2.2- Particle Characterization

Particle size was determined using the nanoparticle tracking analysis instrument Nanosight LM-10 (Nanosight LTD). The technique has been recently developed and therefore will be described here. The instrument visualizes particles by illuminating them in aqueous suspension using a laser light and a computer captures real-time video of particle motion. The particles are small enough such that their movement is affected by the random motion of individual molecules on a microscopic scale. This phenomenon is called translational diffusion or Brownian motion. Specialized computer software tracks the motion of individual particles and generates a number called a Diffusion Coefficient (D) which is directly proportional to the square of the displacement of a particle per unit time. Observation of D allows the calculation of particle size according to the Stokes-Einstein equation;

$$D = \frac{k_B T}{6\pi\eta R}$$

where  $k_B$  is the Boltzman constant, T is the temperature,  $\eta$  is the viscosity, and R is the particle radius. Concurrent measurement of the temperature determines T and  $\eta$ , therefore allowing the particle radius R to be calculated.

Particle morphology was observed with scanning electron microscopy. Loading was determined by dissolving a predetermined mass of particle in dimethyl sulfoxide and the amount of RA was quantified in the fully dissolved sample using absorbance spectroscopy at 360nm. Loading efficiency was calculated by dividing the mass of RA present in particles by the amount of RA initially added in the particle formulation and multiplying by 100%.

Pharmacokinetics of RA release was determined by adding an aqueous suspension of RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles to dialysis cassettes (Pierce 69590) placed in 2L of PBS on a rotary stirrer at 37°C. Dialysis membranes with a MWCO=20,000kD were used such that released RA molecules could freely diffuse out of the cassette but the PLGA particles themselves along with any encapsulated RA were trapped within the cassette. At various time points, the particle suspension within a cassette was removed, particles were isolated via centrifugation, dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide, and RA content determined spectrophotometrically using absorbance spectroscopy at 360nm. Amount of RA released as a function of time was determined by calculating the difference between measured RA content and predicted RA content based on particle loading. The dialysate was changed daily and each time point was measured in triplicate.

### 2.3- In Vitro Bioactivity

#### 2.3.1- Cell Culture and T cell Stimulation

Six-week-old C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River. Mice were housed under specific pathogen free conditions and used between 7-12 weeks of age. The spleen and axillary, cervical, and inguinal lymph nodes were removed. Lymphocytes were isolated by combining organs and crushing them through a 20µm filter into sterile PBS. Cells were centrifuged, counted, and re-suspended at a concentration of 10X10<sup>9</sup> cells/mL. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were isolated using an Easy Sep CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell enrichment kit (Stemcell Technologies, 19752) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Once isolated, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were cultured in Click's Media (Irvine Scientific, 9195) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FBS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin, and 50µM β-mercaptoethanol using cell stimulation conditions adapted from previously described protocols<sup>120,138</sup>. Cells were plated at a density of 1X10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml and volume of 500µL/well in 24 well plates or 250µL/well in 48 well plates. Th17 cells were generated by culturing cells with 1µg/ml anti-CD3ε (BD Bioscience, 553058), 1µg/ml anti-CD28 (BD Bioscience 553295), 20ng/ml IL-6 (Peprotech 216-16), and 5ng/ml TGF-β(Peprotech 100-21). Treg cells were generated by stimulating with immobilized anti-CD3ε (250 µL of 10µg/ml), immobilized anti-CD28 (250 µL of 2µg/ml), and 5ng/ml TGF-β. Media for Treg generation was identical to that used for Th17 generation. RA or RA loaded

PLGA nanoparticles were added at day 0 at the appropriate concentration. Cells were cultured for 5 days in an incubator that maintained  $37^{\circ}C$  at 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

On day 5, the cell suspension was collected and centrifuged in order to separate the supernatant from cells. Cytokine content of the supernatant was quantified using enzyme linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA). IL-17 (BD Bioscience 555068 and 555067) and IFN- $\gamma$  (BD Biosciences 551309 and 551506) were measured for Th17 cells, and IL-10 (eBioscience 88-7104-77) for Treg cells. The supernatant was not diluted for the measurement of any cytokines.

Th0 cells were used as negative controls and were generated by stimulating with soluble anti-CD3 $\epsilon$  (250 µL of 10µg/ml) and immobilized anti-CD28 (250 µL of 2µg/ml) only. All other stimulation conditions for control cells were kept constant. CD4<sup>+</sup> cells treated with PLGA nanoparticles not containing RA (blank) were also used as negative controls. All animal care and experimentation were consistent with NIH guidelines and approved by the Yale University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### 2.3.2- Flow Cytometry Analysis

On day 5 of culture, CD4<sup>+</sup> cells were washed with Click's media, resuspended in media containing 20ng/ml PMA, 2000ng/ml ionomycin, and  $1\mu$ L/ml Golgi Plug (BDBioscience 555028), and incubated for 6 hrs. Cells were washed and

resuspended in staining buffer containing 1XPBS and 2% BSA. Anti-CD4 conjugated to Pacific Blue (BD Bioscience 558107) and anti-TCR $\beta$  conjugated to APC780 (eBioscience 47-5961-80) were added and cells were incubated for 30 minutes on ice for surface staining. Cells were permeabilized using Cytofix/Cytoperm Plus Fixation-Permeabilization Kit (BDBioscience 555028) according to the manufacturer's instructions and stained with anti-IL-17 conjugated to Alexa647 (eBioscience 51-7177-80), anti-ROR- $\gamma$ (t) conjugated to PE (eBioscience 12-6988), and anti-Foxp3 conjugated to Alexa700 (eBioscience 56-5773-80) for intracellular staining. Analysis was performed the same day using a LSRII Flow Cytometer (Becton-Dickinson and Company).

#### 2.3.3- Fibroblast/Th17 co-culture

NIH 3T3 fibroblasts were cultured in hi-glucose DMEM media supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FBS, 100U/ml penicillin, and 100µg/ml streptomycin and allowed to adhere to the plate surface overnight. Cells were plated at a density  $2X10^5$  cells/mL and a volume of 1mL. T cells were polarized towards the Th17 phenotype and treated with 10nM free RA or RA nanoparticles for 5 days as described in Section 2.3.1. Cells were subsequently washed, restimulated with soluble 1µg/ml anti-CD3 $\epsilon$  (BD Bioscience, 553058) and 1µg/ml anti-CD28 (BD Bioscience 553295), and added to the fibroblasts at a density of 5X10<sup>5</sup> cells/well. T cells and fibroblasts were co-cultured for 24 hrs, after which time supernatant was collected and analyzed for IL-6 via ELISA (BD Biosciences 550950).

### Chapter 3

# Results

### 3.1- Particle Characterization

Particle sizing via the Nanosight LM-10HS revealed an average particle diameter of 252nm with a mondisperse size distribution (see Figure 7A). Observation of particles via SEM revealed similarly sized spherical particles with a smooth surface morphology all of roughly similar dimension (see Figure 7B). Although not quantitatively measured, the particle size distribution determined using the Nanosight LM-10HS correlates well to the size of particles visualized via SEM.



Figure 7- Nanoparticle characterization. (A) Hydrodynamic particle size distribution as measured with Nanosight LM-10HS reveals a monodisperse distribution with average particle diameter=252nm. (B) SEM reveals similarly sized spherical particles with smooth surface morphology.

The control release curve of RA-loaded nanoparticles determined using dialysis reveals a biphasic release profile with an initial burst of RA release during the first 24-48 hours, followed by its slow gradual release in a plateau phase (see Figure 8). This type of biphasic release is a typical release profile observed in biodegradable nanoparticulate systems. It has been speculated that the initial burst release is due to release of surface associated encapsulant and the longer plateau phase is the release of encapsulant truly incorporated within the particle matrix itself<sup>139</sup>.



Figure 8- Drug release kinetics. Control release curve of RA from PLGA particles at 37°C in PBS reveals biphasic release kinetics with an initial burst release for 24 hours followed by gradual release. Results shown are for triplicate samples and error bars represent SEM.

Loading of particles was 2.29-3.15  $\mu$ g RA/mg PLGA and loading efficiency was 72.5  $\pm$  11.5%. Such a high loading efficiency is expected when encapsulants possess similar solubility characteristics as the particle matrix, in this case hydrophobic RA and PLGA. Observed morphology via SEM, particle size distribution, control release characteristics, and loading efficiency were similar for all batches of particles used in experiments.

### 3.2- In Vitro Bioactivity

#### 3.2.1- RA nanoparticles inhibit Th17 differentiation

In order to assess the bioactivity of RA released from PLGA nanoparticles relative to free compound, we cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> cells under Th17 polarizing conditions<sup>138</sup> in the presence of RA dissolved freely in solution or loaded in nanoparticles. We found that both free RA and particulate-encapsulated RA decreased the secretion of IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$  in a dose dependent manner (see Figure 9). RA potency was similar between free and particulate drug for concentrations of 10nM, 1nM, and 0.01nM. Free drug was more potent than nanoparticles at 0.1nM.



Figure 9- Cytokine production of Th17 cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> cells polarized towards the Th17 phenotype and treated for 5 days with soluble RA (free) and RA loaded nanoparticles (NP) showed decreased production of IL-17 (A) and IFN- $\gamma$  (B). \* = p<0.05, separately comparing Th17 cells treated with RA at the each indicated concentration to Th17 cells not treated with RA. The data represent 5 replicates and the experiment was performed independently three times.

In order to more closely investigate the phenotype of cells treated with RA, we examined cells for Th17 specific markers via flow cytometry. We observed that CD4+TCR- $\beta$ + cells treated with free or encapsulated RA similarly expressed lower levels of intracellular IL-17 and ROR- $\gamma$ (t), the key transcription factor of the Th17 lineage (see Figure 10)<sup>140</sup>.



Figure 10- FACS analysis of Th17 cells. Flow cytometry revealed that RA treatment decreased intracellular expression of IL-17 (A & B) and the key Th17 transcription factor ROR- $\gamma$ (t) (C). Flow cytometry plots are for [RA]=10nM \* = p<0.05, separately comparing Th17 cells treated with RA at the each indicated concentration to Th17 cells not treated with RA. The data represent 5 replicates and the experiment was performed independently three times.

### 3.2.2- RA nanoparticles enhance the Treg phenotype

Since RA can enhance the development of Treg cells<sup>120</sup>, next we investigated the effect of RA nanoparticles on cells cultured under conditions that promote T regulatory cell differentiation. Free and PLGA-encapsulated RA increased the IL-10

expression of Treg cells in a dose responsive manner (see Figure 11); however, free RA treatment resulted in greater increases in IL-10 production than did nanoparticles.



Figure 11- IL-10 production by Treg cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> cells treated with TGF- $\beta$  and treated for 5 days with soluble RA (free) and RA loaded nanoparticles (NP) showed increased production of IL-10. \* = p<0.05, separately comparing Treg cells treated with RA at the each indicated concentration to cells not treated with RA. The error bar on the blank condition is small and therefore not visible. The data represent 5 replicates and the experiment was performed independently two times.

Unlike IL-10 production, free RA and RA containing nanoparticles resulted in similar

increases in Foxp3 expression, as measured by flow cytometry (see Figure 12).



Figure 12- FACS analysis of Treg cells. Flow cytometry reveals that cells treated with RA have an increased expression of Foxp3. Histograms are shown for cells treated with 10nM RA. Blue=TGF- $\beta$  only, Red= TGF- $\beta$  and RA. \*=p<0.05, comparing treated to untreated cells.

### 3.2.3- RA nanoparticles inhibit IL-6 production in fibroblasts

Th17 cells promote inflammation and autoimmunity in part by inducing the production of IL-6 in neighboring fibroblasts via IL-17, thereby establishing a positive feedback cycle favoring the development of more Th17 cells<sup>101</sup>. We therefore tested the ability of T cells treated with free and nanoparticulate RA to trigger the production of IL-6 by fibroblasts *in vitro* (see Figure 13). Whereas fibroblasts treated with IL-17 alone or co-cultured with Th17 cells produced significant amounts of IL-6, those co-cultured with T cells polarized towards the Th17 phenotype in the presence of free RA or nanoparticulate RA did not, with a similar magnitude of suppression with both of these RA administration modalities.



Figure 13- IL-6 production by fibroblasts. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were polarized towards the Th17 phenotype and treated with soluble RA or RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles for 5 days, washed to remove excess RA or RA loaded NPs, and subsequently co-cultured with fibroblasts for 24 hours. IL-6 was then quantified in the supernatant by ELISA. Fibroblasts treated with IL-17 or co-cultured with Th17 cells had higher production of IL-6 than those co-cultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> cells polarized towards the Th17 phenotype that were also treated with RA. \*\*\*=p<0.001, for comparison of any of the three rightmost columns with any of the three leftmost columns. The data represent 3 replicates.

# Chapter 4

# Discussion

In this work, we demonstrated a methodology for delivering bioactive RA in a biodegradable, FDA approved polymeric nanoparticle format that can potentially address issues related to delivery of this drug. RA released from our drug delivery system is capable of reducing the production of Th17 cells and increasing the Treg phenotype of developing naïve T cells. Specifically, we showed that RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles reduce IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$  production and ROR- $\gamma$ (t) expression by CD4\* T cells exposed to IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$  *in vitro* as well as increase IL-10 production and Foxp3 expression by T cells treated with TGF- $\beta$  alone. We also demonstrate that CD4\* cells polarized towards the Th17 phenotype have a dramatically reduced ability to induce IL-6 production in fibroblasts when treated with RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles. These findings are promising for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases driven by an excess of inflammatory Th17 cells and a relative deficiency of the anti-inflammatory action of Treg cells.

Our results show that the potency of RA delivered via PLGA nanoparticles is largely equivalent to that of free drug *in vitro*. It should be noted that in our experiments, concentrations of RA delivered to cells within particles was determined according to particle loading and not the amount of RA released from the particles. Considering the control release curve of RA from particles, cells treated with RA loaded nanoparticles received only approximately 80% as much RA as those cells treated with free drug at a given concentration, demonstrating a moderate increase in RA potency delivered via nanoparticle over free drug.

In fact, increased bioactivity is commonly seen in molecules delivered via particulate delivery systems relative to free drug both *in vitro* and *in vivo*<sup>29</sup>. In the case of phagocytic cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells, a mechanism for enhanced drug potency is that phagocytosed particles deliver high doses of drug when degraded within the phagolysosome<sup>16</sup>. Such a mechanism is not evident in non-phagocytic cells such as T cells, however. It has been speculated that since drug is being released from point sources rather than freely dissolved, it is possible to achieve high local drug concentrations in the vicinity of the particle in a manner similar to paracrine delivery<sup>54</sup>. Therefore in these experiments, T cells may receive a relatively higher dose of RA when in close proximity to nanoparticles, possibly explaining the observed moderate increase in drug potency.

The experiments presented here have been designed to evaluate the feasibility of nanoparticulate encapsulation and delivery of RA, not to demonstrate an advantage

of nanoparticulate drug delivery over free drug per se. The many potential advantages that targeted local drug delivery has over systemic administration unfortunately cannot be easily reproduced *in vitro*. It is therefore necessary to evaluate the efficacy of RA loaded nanoparticles relative to soluble RA in an animal model of Th17 mediated autoimmune disease in order to demonstrate the full potential of our drug delivery platform.

Models for testing of our platform include acute and chronic models of colitis, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis. T cell models of arthritis that would be conducive for testing advantages of RA loaded nanoparticles include the Collagen Induced Arthritis (CIA) and SKG models<sup>141,142</sup>. These models are mediated by selfreactive Th17 cells and represent an imbalance between inflammatory Th17 and regulatory T cell responses. Another animal model in which to test RA loaded nanoparticles treatment is the EAE model of multiple sclerosis. Like the models of arthritis, EAE is driven by Th17 cells and would therefore be conducive to RA loaded nanoparticulate treatment. Evaluation of our platform in these models could be done by comparing therapeutic efficiency of drug-loaded nanoparticles to that of free RA administered systemically. Potential advantages of particles relative to free drug in these models include higher drug residence time, more stable drug levels due to controlled release of RA from particles, and localization of particles to areas of inflammation secondary to leaky vasculature and inflammation via the EPR effect. However, functionalization of the particle surface with T cell targeting ligands such

as anti-CD4 antibodies could increase specificity of the particulate therapy even further.

Ease of particle targeting makes treatment of colitis with RA loaded nanoparticles particularly intriguing. Currently, biologic therapy for IBD can only be administered via injection<sup>143</sup>, however RA loaded nanoparticles would be orally administrable, presenting a substantial improvement in patient comfort and convenience. Furthermore, studies have shown that orally administered nanoparticles selectively adhere to the intestinal epithelium and specifically localize to areas of inflammation. allowing for high intestinal concentrations of drug that are difficult to achieve with systemic therapy<sup>35,36</sup>. It has been demonstrated that adherent nanoparticles are selectively retained within the GI tract, increasing their utility in IBD which is associated with diarrhea and decreased residence time of orally administered tablets<sup>35,36</sup>. This natural adherence and localization to inflamed intestinal mucosa abrogates the need of any form of particle targeting via surface functionalization, further increasing the appeal and simplicity of this approach. Specific T cell mediated animal models of colitis include the acute colitis model TNBS colitis and the chronic colitis model CD4+CD45RB<sup>hi</sup> T cell transfer model<sup>144</sup>.

In summary, we have developed a novel biodegradable nanoparticulate vehicle for the localized delivery of RA. We have demonstrated our ability to reproducibly fabricate RA loaded PLGA nanoparticles with predictable time dependent drug release kinetics. We have shown that the RA released from nanoparticles is bioactive and capable of altering the phenotype of developing T cells *in vitro* similarly to free soluble RA. Our findings present a promising line of inquiry into the usage of this novel formulation for autoimmune and inflammatory disease therapy and represent the first step in the development of a therapeutic for clinical use.

### References

1. Strebhardt K, Ullrich A. Paul Ehrlich's magic bullet concept: 100 years of progress. Nat Rev Cancer 2008;8:473-80.

2. Ma X, Wang Z. Anticancer drug discovery in the future: an evolutionary perspective. Drug Discov Today 2009;14:1136-42.

3. LaVan DA, McGuire T, Langer R. Small-scale systems for in vivo drug delivery. Nat Biotechnol 2003;21:1184-91.

4. O'Mahony D, Bishop MR. Monoclonal antibody therapy. Front Biosci 2006;11:1620-35.

5. Feldmann M. Development of anti-TNF therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Rev Immunol 2002;2:364-71.

6. Targan SR, Hanauer SB, van Deventer SJ, et al. A short-term study of chimeric monoclonal antibody cA2 to tumor necrosis factor alpha for Crohn's disease. Crohn's Disease cA2 Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997;337:1029-35.

7. Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, et al. A randomized, placebocontrolled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 2006;354:899-910.

8. Sandborn WJ, Colombel JF, Enns R, et al. Natalizumab induction and maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2005;353:1912-25.

9. Klotz U, Schwab M. Topical delivery of therapeutic agents in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2005;57:267-79.

10. Gastinne H, Wolff M, Delatour F, Faurisson F, Chevret S. A controlled trial in intensive care units of selective decontamination of the digestive tract with nonabsorbable antibiotics. The French Study Group on Selective Decontamination of the Digestive Tract. N Engl J Med 1992;326:594-9.

11. Pimentel M, Park S, Mirocha J, Kane SV, Kong Y. The effect of a nonabsorbed oral antibiotic (rifaximin) on the symptoms of the irritable bowel syndrome: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:557-63.

12. Westphal M, Hilt DC, Bortey E, et al. A phase 3 trial of local chemotherapy with biodegradable carmustine (BCNU) wafers (Gliadel wafers) in patients with primary malignant glioma. Neuro Oncol 2003;5:79-88.

13. Brem H, Piantadosi S, Burger PC, et al. Placebo-controlled trial of safety and efficacy of intraoperative controlled delivery by biodegradable polymers of chemotherapy for recurrent gliomas. The Polymer-brain Tumor Treatment Group. Lancet 1995;345:1008-12.

14. Fleming AB, Saltzman WM. Pharmacokinetics of the carmustine implant. Clin Pharmacokinet 2002;41:403-19.

15. Lin SH, Kleinberg LR. Carmustine wafers: localized delivery of chemotherapeutic agents in CNS malignancies. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2008;8:343-59.

16. Cho K, Wang X, Nie S, Chen ZG, Shin DM. Therapeutic nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14:1310-6.

17. Petros RA, DeSimone JM. Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2010;9:615-27.

18. Panyam J, Labhasetwar V. Biodegradable nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to cells and tissue. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2003;55:329-47.

19. Sun X, Rossin R, Turner JL, et al. An assessment of the effects of shell crosslinked nanoparticle size, core composition, and surface PEGylation on in vivo biodistribution. Biomacromolecules 2005;6:2541-54.

20. De Jaeghere F, Allémann E, Kubel F, et al. Oral bioavailability of a poorly water soluble HIV-1 protease inhibitor incorporated into pH-sensitive particles: effect of the particle size and nutritional state. J Control Release 2000;68:291-8.

21. Schipper ML, Iyer G, Koh AL, et al. Particle size, surface coating, and PEGylation influence the biodistribution of quantum dots in living mice. Small 2009;5:126-34.

22. Win KY, Feng SS. Effects of particle size and surface coating on cellular uptake of polymeric nanoparticles for oral delivery of anticancer drugs. Biomaterials 2005;26:2713-22.

23. Chithrani BD, Ghazani AA, Chan WC. Determining the size and shape dependence of gold nanoparticle uptake into mammalian cells. Nano Lett 2006;6:662-8.

24. Zhang Y, Wu X, Han Y, Mo F, Duan Y, Li S. Novel thymopentin release systems prepared from bioresorbable PLA-PEG-PLA hydrogels. Int J Pharm 2010;386:15-22.

25. Avgoustakis K, Beletsi A, Panagi Z, Klepetsanis P, Karydas AG, Ithakissios DS. PLGA-mPEG nanoparticles of cisplatin: in vitro nanoparticle degradation, in vitro

drug release and in vivo drug residence in blood properties. J Control Release 2002;79:123-35.

26. Sinha R, Kim GJ, Nie S, Shin DM. Nanotechnology in cancer therapeutics: bioconjugated nanoparticles for drug delivery. Mol Cancer Ther 2006;5:1909-17.

27. Jain R. The manufacturing techniques of various drug loaded biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices. Biomaterials 2000;21:2475-90.

28. Farokhzad OC, Cheng J, Teply BA, et al. Targeted nanoparticle-aptamer bioconjugates for cancer chemotherapy in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103:6315-20.

29. Fahmy T, Fong P, Goyal A, Saltzman W. Targeted for Drug Delivery. Nano Today 2005;August:18-26.

30. Nie S, Xing Y, Kim GJ, Simons JW. Nanotechnology applications in cancer. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2007;9:257-88.

31. Matsumura Y, Maeda H. A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs. Cancer Res 1986;46:6387-92.

32. Duncan R. The dawning era of polymer therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2003;2:347-60.

33. Lamprecht A, Ubrich N, Yamamoto H, et al. Biodegradable nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery in treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2001;299:775-81.

34. Oosegi T, Onishi H, Machida Y. Gastrointestinal distribution and absorption behavior of Eudragit-coated chitosan-prednisolone conjugate microspheres in rats with TNBS-induced colitis. Int J Pharm 2008;348:80-8.

35. Lamprecht A, Yamamoto H, Takeuchi H, Kawashima Y. Nanoparticles enhance therapeutic efficiency by selectively increased local drug dose in experimental colitis in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005;315:196-202.

36. Lamprecht A, Schäfer U, Lehr CM. Size-dependent bioadhesion of micro- and nanoparticulate carriers to the inflamed colonic mucosa. Pharm Res 2001;18:788-93.

37. Lamprecht A, Yamamoto H, Ubrich N, Takeuchi H, Maincent P, Kawashima Y. FK506 microparticles mitigate experimental colitis with minor renal calcineurin suppression. Pharm Res 2005;22:193-9.

38. Meissner Y, Pellequer Y, Lamprecht A. Nanoparticles in inflammatory bowel
disease: particle targeting versus pH-sensitive delivery. Int J Pharm 2006;316:13843.

39. Peer D, Karp JM, Hong S, Farokhzad OC, Margalit R, Langer R. Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy. Nat Nanotechnol 2007;2:751-60.

40. Yamazaki N, Kojima S, Bovin NV, André S, Gabius S, Gabius HJ. Endogenous lectins as targets for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2000;43:225-44.

41. Minko T. Drug targeting to the colon with lectins and neoglycoconjugates. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2004;56:491-509.

42. Seymour LW, Ferry DR, Anderson D, et al. Hepatic drug targeting: phase I evaluation of polymer-bound doxorubicin. J Clin Oncol 2002;20:1668-76.

43. Umamaheshwari RB, Ramteke S, Jain NK. Anti-Helicobacter pylori effect of mucoadhesive nanoparticles bearing amoxicillin in experimental gerbils model. AAPS PharmSciTech 2004;5:e32.

44. Jose S, Dhanya K, Cinu TA, Aleykutty NA. Multiparticulate system for colon targeted delivery of ondansetron. Indian J Pharm Sci 2010;72:58-64.

45. Stella B, Arpicco S, Peracchia MT, et al. Design of folic acid-conjugated nanoparticles for drug targeting. J Pharm Sci 2000;89:1452-64.

46. Leamon CP, Reddy JA. Folate-targeted chemotherapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2004;56:1127-41.

47. Kukowska-Latallo JF, Candido KA, Cao Z, et al. Nanoparticle targeting of anticancer drug improves therapeutic response in animal model of human epithelial cancer. Cancer Res 2005;65:5317-24.

48. Demento S, Eisenbarth S, Foellmer H, et al. Inflammasome-activating nanoparticles as modular systems for optimizing vaccine efficacy. Vaccine 2009;27:3013-21.

49. Demento S, Bonafé N, Cui W, et al. TLR9-Targeted Biodegradable Nanoparticles as Immunization Vectors Protect against West Nile Encephalitis. J Immunol 2010.

50. Sapra P, Allen TM. Improved outcome when B-cell lymphoma is treated with combinations of immunoliposomal anticancer drugs targeted to both the CD19 and CD20 epitopes. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10:2530-7.

51. Park JW, Kirpotin DB, Hong K, et al. Tumor targeting using anti-her2 immunoliposomes. J Control Release 2001;74:95-113.

52. Park JW, Hong K, Kirpotin DB, et al. Anti-HER2 immunoliposomes: enhanced efficacy attributable to targeted delivery. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:1172-81.

53. Raffaghello L, Pagnan G, Pastorino F, et al. Immunoliposomal fenretinide: a novel antitumoral drug for human neuroblastoma. Cancer Lett 2003;197:151-5.

54. Steenblock E, Fahmy T. A comprehensive platform for ex vivo T-cell expansion based on biodegradable polymeric artificial antigen-presenting cells. Mol Ther 2008;16:765-72.

55. Kreuter J. Nanoparticles and nanocapsules--new dosage forms in the nanometer size range. Pharm Acta Helv 1978;53:33-9.

56. Zambaux MF, Bonneaux F, Gref R, et al. Influence of experimental parameters on the characteristics of poly(lactic acid) nanoparticles prepared by a double emulsion method. J Control Release 1998;50:31-40.

57. Tsapis N, Bennett D, Jackson B, Weitz DA, Edwards DA. Trojan particles: large porous carriers of nanoparticles for drug delivery. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:12001-5.

58. Betancourt T, Brown B, Brannon-Peppas L. Doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles by nanoprecipitation: preparation, characterization and in vitro evaluation. Nanomedicine (Lond) 2007;2:219-32.

59. Soppimath KS, Aminabhavi TM, Kulkarni AR, Rudzinski WE. Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles as drug delivery devices. J Control Release 2001;70:1-20.

60. Yang YY, Chung TS, Ng NP. Morphology, drug distribution, and in vitro release profiles of biodegradable polymeric microspheres containing protein

fabricated by double-emulsion solvent extraction/evaporation method. Biomaterials 2001;22:231-41.

61. Janeway CA. The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. Immunol Today 1992;13:11-6.

62. Silverstein AM. Autoimmunity versus horror autotoxicus: the struggle for recognition. Nat Immunol 2001;2:279-81.

63. Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. Science 2002;298:1395-401.

64. Kyewski B, Klein L. A central role for central tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol 2006;24:571-606.

65. Van Parijs L, Ibraghimov A, Abbas AK. The roles of costimulation and Fas in T cell apoptosis and peripheral tolerance. Immunity 1996;4:321-8.

66. Schwartz RH. A cell culture model for T lymphocyte clonal anergy. Science 1990;248:1349-56.

67. Goodnow CC. Balancing immunity and tolerance: deleting and tuning lymphocyte repertoires. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:2264-71.

68. Drappa J, Vaishnaw AK, Sullivan KE, Chu JL, Elkon KB. Fas gene mutations in the Canale-Smith syndrome, an inherited lymphoproliferative disorder associated with autoimmunity. N Engl J Med 1996;335:1643-9.

69. Rizzi M, Ferrera F, Filaci G, Indiveri F. Disruption of immunological tolerance: role of AIRE gene in autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev 2006;5:145-7.

70. Murphy K, Travers P, Walport M. Janeway's Immunobiology. In. 7th ed. New York: Garland Science; 2008.

71. Benjamin R, Parham P. Guilt by association: HLA-B27 and ankylosing spondylitis. Immunol Today 1990;11:137-42.

72. Groop L, Miettinen A, Groop PH, Meri S, Koskimies S, Bottazzo GF. Organspecific autoimmunity and HLA-DR antigens as markers for beta-cell destruction in patients with type II diabetes. Diabetes 1988;37:99-103.

73. Ogura Y, Bonen DK, Inohara N, et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature 2001;411:603-6.

74. Rose NR, Mackay IR. Molecular mimicry: a critical look at exemplary instances in human diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 2000;57:542-51.

75. Guilherme L, Kalil J, Cunningham M. Molecular mimicry in the autoimmune pathogenesis of rheumatic heart disease. Autoimmunity 2006;39:31-9.

76. Wucherpfennig KW. Mechanisms for the induction of autoimmunity by infectious agents. J Clin Invest 2001;108:1097-104.

77. Oldstone MB. Molecular mimicry, microbial infection, and autoimmune disease: evolution of the concept. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2005;296:1-17.

78. Vanderlugt CL, Miller SD. Epitope spreading in immune-mediated diseases: implications for immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2002;2:85-95.

79. Deshmukh US, Bagavant H, Lewis J, Gaskin F, Fu SM. Epitope spreading within lupus-associated ribonucleoprotein antigens. Clin Immunol 2005;117:112-20.

80. Orth T, Mayet WJ, Deister H, Chang S, Schmitz M, Bachmann M. Analysis of epitope spreading over an eleven-year period in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. Scand J Rheumatol 1998;27:461-4.

81. Greidinger EL, Hoffman RW. The appearance of U1 RNP antibody specificities in sequential autoimmune human antisera follows a characteristic order that implicates the U1-70 kd and B'/B proteins as predominant U1 RNP immunogens. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44:368-75.

82. Hosszúfalusi N, Vatay A, Rajczy K, et al. Similar genetic features and different islet cell autoantibody pattern of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) compared with adult-onset type 1 diabetes with rapid progression. Diabetes Care 2003;26:452-7.

83. Gunnarsson A, Hellmark T, Wieslander J. Molecular properties of the Goodpasture epitope. J Biol Chem 2000;275:30844-8.

84. Lindstrom JM, Seybold ME, Lennon VA, Whittingham S, Duane DD. Antibody to acetylcholine receptor in myasthenia gravis: prevalence, clinical correlates, and diagnostic value. 1975. Neurology 1998;51:933 and 6 pages following.

85. Arbuckle MR, McClain MT, Rubertone MV, et al. Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 2003;349:1526-33.

86. Harley JB, Reichlin M, Arnett FC, Alexander EL, Bias WB, Provost TT. Gene interaction at HLA-DQ enhances autoantibody production in primary Sjögren's syndrome. Science 1986;232:1145-7.

87. Weaver C, Harrington L, Mangan P, Gavrieli M, Murphy K. Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. Immunity 2006;24:677-88.

88. La Cava A. Natural Tregs and autoimmunity. Front Biosci 2009;14:333-43.

89. Miyara M, Sakaguchi S. Natural regulatory T cells: mechanisms of suppression. Trends Mol Med 2007;13:108-16.

90. Denning TL, Kim G, Kronenberg M. Cutting edge: CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells impaired for intestinal homing can prevent colitis. J Immunol 2005;174:7487-91.

91. McGeachy MJ, Stephens LA, Anderton SM. Natural recovery and protection from autoimmune encephalomyelitis: contribution of CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells within the central nervous system. J Immunol 2005;175:3025-32.

92. Green EA, Choi Y, Flavell RA. Pancreatic lymph node-derived CD4(+)CD25(+) Treg cells: highly potent regulators of diabetes that require TRANCE-RANK signals. Immunity 2002;16:183-91.

93. Kim JM, Rasmussen JP, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. Nat Immunol 2007;8:191-7.

94. Lindley S, Dayan CM, Bishop A, Roep BO, Peakman M, Tree TI. Defective suppressor function in CD4(+)CD25(+) T-cells from patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2005;54:92-9.

95. Flores-Borja F, Jury EC, Mauri C, Ehrenstein MR. Defects in CTLA-4 are associated with abnormal regulatory T cell function in rheumatoid arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:19396-401.

96. Astier AL, Meiffren G, Freeman S, Hafler DA. Alterations in CD46-mediated Tr1 regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest 2006;116:3252-7.

97. Kriegel MA, Lohmann T, Gabler C, Blank N, Kalden JR, Lorenz HM. Defective suppressor function of human CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type II. J Exp Med 2004;199:1285-91.

98. Bettelli E, Korn T, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. Induction and effector functions of T(H)17 cells. Nature 2008;453:1051-7.

99. Mangan P, Harrington L, O'Quinn D, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature 2006;441:231-4.

100. Fossiez F, Djossou O, Chomarat P, et al. T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. J Exp Med 1996;183:2593-603.

101. Ogura H, Murakami M, Okuyama Y, et al. Interleukin-17 promotes autoimmunity by triggering a positive-feedback loop via interleukin-6 induction. Immunity 2008;29:628-36.

102. Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo V. T(H)-17 cells in the circle of immunity and autoimmunity. Nat Immunol 2007;8:345-50.

103. Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo V. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2009;27:485-517.

104. Billiau A, Heremans H, Vandekerckhove F, et al. Enhancement of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in mice by antibodies against IFN-gamma. J Immunol 1988;140:1506-10.

105. Willenborg DO, Fordham S, Bernard CC, Cowden WB, Ramshaw IA. IFNgamma plays a critical down-regulatory role in the induction and effector phase of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 1996;157:3223-7.

106. Tran EH, Prince EN, Owens T. IFN-gamma shapes immune invasion of the central nervous system via regulation of chemokines. J Immunol 2000;164:2759-68.

107. Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, et al. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 2003;421:744-8.

108. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, et al. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 2005;201:233-40.

109. Chen Y, Langrish CL, McKenzie B, et al. Anti-IL-23 therapy inhibits multiple inflammatory pathways and ameliorates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1317-26.

110. Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, et al. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 2006;177:566-73.

111. Kirkham B, Lassere M, Edmonds J, et al. Synovial membrane cytokine expression is predictive of joint damage progression in rheumatoid arthritis: a twoyear prospective study (the DAMAGE study cohort). Arthritis Rheum 2006;54:1122-31.

112. Matusevicius D, Kivisäkk P, He B, et al. Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 1999;5:101-4.

113. Du C, Liu C, Kang J, et al. MicroRNA miR-326 regulates TH-17 differentiation and is associated with the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Nat Immunol 2009;10:1252-9.

114. Duerr R, Taylor K, Brant S, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. Science 2006;314:1461-3.

115. Wong CK, Ho CY, Li EK, Lam CW. Elevation of proinflammatory cytokine (IL-18, IL-17, IL-12) and Th2 cytokine (IL-4) concentrations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 2000;9:589-93.

116. Katsifis GE, Rekka S, Moutsopoulos NM, Pillemer S, Wahl SM. Systemic and local interleukin-17 and linked cytokines associated with Sjögren's syndrome immunopathogenesis. Am J Pathol 2009;175:1167-77.

117. Deleuran B, Abraham DJ. Possible implication of the effector CD4+ T-cell subpopulation TH17 in the pathogenesis of systemic scleroderma. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2007;3:682-3.

118. Emamaullee JA, Davis J, Merani S, et al. Inhibition of Th17 cells regulates autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes 2009;58:1302-11.

119. Hashimoto T, Akiyama K, Kobayashi N, Mori A. Comparison of IL-17 production by helper T cells among atopic and nonatopic asthmatics and control subjects. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2005;137 Suppl 1:51-4.

120. Mucida D, Park Y, Kim G, et al. Reciprocal TH17 and regulatory T cell differentiation mediated by retinoic acid. Science 2007;317:256-60.

121. Xiao S, Jin H, Korn T, et al. Retinoic acid increases Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and inhibits development of Th17 cells by enhancing TGF-beta-driven Smad3 signaling and inhibiting IL-6 and IL-23 receptor expression. J Immunol 2008;181:2277-84.

122. Nozaki Y, Yamagata T, Yoo B, et al. The beneficial effects of treatment with all-trans-retinoic acid plus corticosteroid on autoimmune nephritis in NZB/WF mice. Clin Exp Immunol 2005;139:74-83.

123. Nozaki Y, Yamagata T, Sugiyama M, Ikoma S, Kinoshita K, Funauchi M. Antiinflammatory effect of all-trans-retinoic acid in inflammatory arthritis. Clin Immunol 2006;119:272-9.

124. Sun CM, Hall JA, Blank RB, et al. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med 2007;204:1775-85.

125. Coombes JL, Powrie F. Dendritic cells in intestinal immune regulation. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8:435-46.

126. Bai A, Lu N, Guo Y, Liu Z, Chen J, Peng Z. All-trans retinoic acid downregulates inflammatory responses by shifting the Treg/Th17 profile in human ulcerative and murine colitis. J Leukoc Biol 2009;86:959-69.

127. Bai A, Lu N, Zeng H, et al. All-Trans Retinoic Acid Ameliorates Trinitrobenzene Sulfonic Acid-Induced Colitis by Shifting Th1 to Th2 Profile. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2010.

128. Warrell RJ, Frankel S, Miller WJ, et al. Differentiation therapy of acute promyelocytic leukemia with tretinoin (all-trans-retinoic acid). N Engl J Med 1991;324:1385-93.

129. Ruzicka T, Larsen F, Galewicz D, et al. Oral alitretinoin (9-cis-retinoic acid) therapy for chronic hand dermatitis in patients refractory to standard therapy: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial. Arch Dermatol 2004;140:1453-9.

130. Larson R, Tallman M. Retinoic acid syndrome: manifestations, pathogenesis, and treatment. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2003;16:453-61.

131. Tallman M, Andersen J, Schiffer C, et al. Clinical description of 44 patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia who developed the retinoic acid syndrome. Blood 2000;95:90-5.

132. De Botton S, Dombret H, Sanz M, et al. Incidence, clinical features, and outcome of all trans-retinoic acid syndrome in 413 cases of newly diagnosed acute promyelocytic leukemia. The European APL Group. Blood 1998;92:2712-8.

133. Yu W, Burns C. All-trans retinoic acid-induced focal myositis, synovitis, and mononeuritis. J Clin Rheumatol 2009;15:358-60.

134. Suzukawa M, Nakazora T, Kawasaki Y, Tominaga T, Shinohara K. Massive ascites associated with all-trans retinoic acid treatment in therapy-related acute promyelocytic leukemia. Intern Med 2010;49:457-60.

135. Lanvers C, Reinhardt D, Dübbers A, et al. Pharmacology of all-trans-retinoic acid in children with acute promyelocytic leukemia. Med Pediatr Oncol 2003;40:293-301.

136. Adamson P, Pitot H, Balis F, Rubin J, Murphy R, Poplack D. Variability in the oral bioavailability of all-trans-retinoic acid. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993;85:993-6.

137. Szuts EZ, Harosi FI. Solubility of retinoids in water. Arch Biochem Biophys 1991;287:297-304.

138. Pappu B, Dong C. Measurement of interleukin-17. Curr Protoc Immunol 2007;Chapter 6:Unit 6.25.

139. Redhead HM, Davis SS, Illum L. Drug delivery in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles surface modified with poloxamer 407 and poloxamine 908: in vitro characterisation and in vivo evaluation. J Control Release 2001;70:353-63.

140. Ivanov I, McKenzie B, Zhou L, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 2006;126:1121-33.

141. van den Berg WB. Lessons from animal models of arthritis over the past decade. Arthritis Res Ther 2009;11:250.

142. Hashimoto M, Hirota K, Yoshitomi H, et al. Complement drives Th17 cell differentiation and triggers autoimmune arthritis. J Exp Med 2010;207:1135-43.

143. Allen PB, Lindsay H, Tham TC. How do patients with inflammatory bowel disease want their biological therapy administered? BMC Gastroenterol 2010;10:1.

144. Wirtz S, Neurath M. Mouse models of inflammatory bowel disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2007;59:1073-83.